Census of Covered Bridges

L. O. Cheever

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.uiowa.edu/palimpsest

Part of the United States History Commons

Recommended Citation
Available at: https://ir.uiowa.edu/palimpsest/vol51/iss11/4
Census of Covered Bridges

Author has authenticating photographs for starred (*) bridges.

Allamakee

Reuben Smith Bridge

_The Waukon Standard_ of November 10, 1870, covering the minutes of the Board of Supervisors October meeting, reported Mr. Stilwell of the bridge building committee had told the Board:

... We have covered the bridge at Reuben Smith's with new plank and put in all new floor joints; the bridge is one hundred and sixty feet in length costing $250.

In Post Township, this bridge spanned the Yellow River on the Reuben Smith farm.

Appanoose

Dean Covered Bridge

Iconium Covered Bridge

_The Centerville Daily Iowegian_ issued its Progress Anniversary Edition on January 10, 1934. A covered bridge was pictured and the accompanying caption referred to two bridges:

The last of Appanoose County's two [4] covered bridges, which spanned the Chariton near Iconium. Eight years ago it was torn down, County Engineer Frank Davis directing the work. This picture was taken after a major portion of the siding had been torn away.

There was one covered bridge across the Chariton at 466
Dean. Many were the tales of ghosts and "bad men" who inhabited these old bridges, and the youth and even older folks, compelled to drive through them at night, often hurried unduly.

Built in 1868 of native oak, without nails, and hand-split shingles for the roof, the Iconium Bridge collapsed August 18, 1925.

**Mud Covered Bridge**

The *Iowegian* of June 26, 1953, reported that the Mud Bridge had been erected in 1868 north-east of Walnut City over Little Walnut Creek.

**Sedan Bridge**

According to the same *Iowegian* story the Sedan Covered Bridge was also erected in 1868, spanning the Chariton River.

**Black Hawk**

**Illinois Central Covered Bridge**

In its centennial issue the Cedar Falls *Daily Record* pictures two bridges with this caption:

Appearing in the background behind the old steel arch bridge formerly on the Main Street crossing is the old covered wooden bridge of the Illinois Central.

**Cerro Gordo**

**Shell Rock River Bridge***

Iowa's newest covered bridge is located in Wilkinson Pioneer Park along the Shell Rock River at Rock Falls, 10 miles northeast of Mason City. Completed in 1969, the bridge was the idea of Les Graverson, Plymouth hardware dealer. He,
with the aid of volunteers, built it, using native oak and cottonwood lumber, sawed three miles away at the Kenneth Romney sawmill. The lattice trusses used are of cottonwood. The bridge is patterned after the Cutler-Donahoe span in Madison County.

Cost of the bridge was $2,500, plus $2,000 for excavating the pond beside it and building 42-foot approaches on each side. The bridge has an overall length of 134 feet, a 50-foot span, is 16 feet wide, and has a 10-foot clearance.

Clayton

Dunsmore Covered Bridge*

The following notice appeared in the Clayton County Journal of August 4, 1875:

Notice is hereby given that bids will be received at the Auditor’s Office until 1 o’clock P.M., on Saturday, August 14th, 1875, for the building of a Howe Truss Bridge of 90 feet span (or other plan or style acceptable to the Board of Supervisors), and for the covering of the same. Also for two Stone Piers or Abutments, to be 14 feet in height above low water. Bids may be for superstructure and piers, or for either. The above bridge and piers are to be built across the Maquoketa River, on the road from Strawberry Point to Garden Prairie, near center Section 30, Cass Township.

M. Uriell, Comr.

The Clayton County Board of Supervisors in their September, 1875, meeting "Ordered that the Auditor draw warrants on order of M. Uriell for
building piers and bridge across Maquoketa River, on road from Strawberry Point to Thomas Dunsmore's."

Taken out by the flood of 1920, the bridge was salvaged and hauled to Strawberry Point where L. H. Oldfather used the lumber in constructing a storage shed. It is still in use.

Elk Creek Bridge

Spanning Elk Creek, on the road from Edgewood to Colesburg, this bridge was built in 1890 by Stalnaker and Coonfare.

Although it was washed out only once—in the Bonney flood of 1896—it has a sad history. The Bonneys, husband and wife, were swept away with their home. The man's body was found as the waters subsided but it was 20 years before traces of the woman's body were found a short distance from the bridge.

Elkport Bridge

The Clayton County Journal (Elkader) of June 16, 1869, reported the minutes of a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors. This resolution passed:

Resolved, That the sum of $500 is appropriated for the purpose of covering bridge across Turkey at Elkport. Adopted.

McNamara's Covered Bridge

Spanned the Volga River at McNamara's ford. (See Otisville Covered Bridge.)
Mederville Covered Bridge*

Before it was replaced by a modern concrete and steel structure in 1918 this covered bridge was the longest single span bridge in Iowa and one of the highest in the country.

It soared 75 to 80 feet above the waterline of the Volga River and had an incredible length of 255 feet without a single center supporting pier, possibly the longest such span in the Midwest.

Dr. L. A. Meder, a dentist in Elkader, recalled in 1969 that "Boys used this bridge as a playground both summer and winter. In winter they coasted down the steep hills and across the bridge floor, which had been covered with snow to permit cutters and sleighs to use it."

Milwaukee Railroad Bridge

The Milwaukee Railroad used a covered bridge in its crossing of the Volga River at Littleport. (Les Swanson believes there may have been other covered bridges used inasmuch as the Milwaukee crossed the Volga many times as it rolled across Clayton County.)

Motor Covered Bridge

The Clayton County Journal (Elkader) of September 16, 1868, reports this petition was placed before the Board of Supervisors:

Petition of John Thompson and others asking for one thousand dollars to cover bridge at Motor across Turkey river. On motion laid on table.

Records were not found showing disposition of
this petition; nor is there corroborating evidence that Motor ever had a covered bridge.

Osborne Covered Bridge*

A covered bridge spanning the Volga at Osborne may be the one reported by Grace Maier, Littleport librarian. She said it was on the highway between Littleport and Elkport.

Osterdock Covered Bridge

The *Clayton County Journal* (Elkader) of September 16, 1868, covering the September meeting of the Board of Supervisors, reported the passage of this resolution:

Resolved, That the sum of Five thousand dollars be and the same is hereby appropriated out of the Bridge fund for the completion of a Bridge at Osterdock's Ferry, upon condition that the commissioners appointed to contract for or expend the above appropriation, file with the Co. Clerk a sufficient bond that they will complete said bridge and the approaches thereto in a good and substantial manner; said work to be approved by a committee appointed by the Board, and that the Swamp Land Fund transferred shall be applied on said appropriation; said Bridge and approaches to be completed before the 1st day of September, 1869, and that the Clerk be authorized to issue warrants to said commissioners when such bond is filed and approved by him. Adopted.

There is no indication that this bridge was covered. However, this notice appearing in the *Journal* of February 16, 1876, is evidence that it was:

The undersigned will receive proposals until March 1st, 1876, for repairing the bridge on Turkey river, at Oster-
dock, Clayton County, Iowa. The bridge wants new chords above and below, and covering with shingle roof, and sides boarded up with dressed lumber and cracks battened. All to be finished by the 1st day of July 1876. Direct communications to

Isaac Otis, comr.
Elkport, Clayton County, Iowa

Otis Bridge*

The covered bridge at Otis’ Mill spanned Elk Creek about two miles south of Elkport. It was on a road heading west. This bridge was dismantled in 1905 and reassembled about three miles further south on the same creek, about a quarter of a mile east of the Brookshier farm.

The disastrous flood of 1925 wiped out many of the bridges in the area but the one near Brookshier’s escaped with only minor damage. It was razed in 1937 after being washed out in the flood of 1933.

Otis Bridge

This covered bridge spanned the Volga near Elkport. (See Otisville Covered Bridge.)

Otisville Covered Bridge

The Elkader Register of May 14, 1873, carried this notice:

Notice is hereby given that sealed proposals will be received at the Auditor’s office until the first Monday in June, 1873, to cover the main spans of the following bridges:

Bridge across Elk Creek, at Otis’ Mill:
Hammond Covered Bridge — Marion County.

Cutler-Donahoe Bridge — Madison County.
(Above) Clayton County's Mederville Covered Bridge, soaring 75-80 feet in the air, had an incredible length of 255 feet without a center supporting pier. It was the longest single span bridge in Iowa and one of the highest in the country. (Photograph from Les Swanson.)

(Left) Before it was dismantled, the Marysville bridge looked like this. Now it is to be divided and 40-foot sections will go to Knoxville and Pella covered bridge fans who will rebuild and place the bridges in local parks.

(Below) The Shambaugh Covered Bridge and Shambaugh Mill (left) in Page County. (Photograph from George Woolson.)
The Burlington Railroad's covered bridge across the Des Moines River at Farmington was believed to be one of the world's longest covered railroad bridges when erected in 1871. (Photograph from Thelma Moreland.)

A tragic accident is pictured here. A threshing machine dropped through the floor of the Volga City Bridge on July 24, 1898, killing two brothers. A third brother jumped to safety. (Photograph from Les Swanson.)
Roseman Covered Bridge — Madison County.

Holliwell Covered Bridge — Madison County.
Imes Covered Bridge — Madison County.

McBride Covered Bridge — Madison County.
The pitched roof Cutler-Donahoe Bridge passes the flat-roofed Cedar Bridge on its 18-mile trip to the Winterset City Park in August of 1970. (*Winterset Madisonian Photograph.*)

The McBride Bridge, bypassed by a new highway, is open for travel.

A 20-acre park became home for the Cedar Bridge after it was bypassed by the new road, under construction left. (*Winterset Madisonian Photograph.*)
The Burr arch truss was used in building the Delta Bridge.

The Town lattice truss is shown in the Cutler-Donahoe Bridge. Trunnell pins, rather than bolts, were used in what remains of the original structure.

A close-up of the Town truss, with additional arches, used in erecting the Holliwell Bridge.
Cedar Lake or Casper Bridge — Madison County.

Hogback Bridge — Madison County.
Bridge across Volga river near Elkport, and at McNamaras with stock side boards, batten ed, and roof of 1st class shingles.

The Board reserves the right to reject any or all bids.

M. Garber, Auditor.

Directly south of Elkport spanning Elk Creek, the Otisville Bridge was washed out in 1933.

Volga City Covered Bridge*

The tragedy in connection with this bridge has overshadowed its history—and there is little of that. Volga City's correspondent to the Dubuque Daily Times tells of the mishap in the July 24, 1898, issue:

It has been an unusual week for accidents since Tuesday last. The most frightful one occurred Thursday evening [July 12, 1898] about 7 o'clock, when George and John Schuchman met death by their traction engine crashing through the large bridge that spans the Volga river at this point. Another brother, Fred Schuchman, was saved by jumping. The dead men have lived in this region for years, and until lately were proprietors of the large wagon works and saw mill. They leave families.

Dallas

Mill Slough Covered Bridge

This bridge spanned the North Raccoon River and mill slough at the north edge of Adel. Built in 1875, it was in constant use until replaced by a concrete structure in 1915. The road it served is now U. S. Route 169. Florence Clark, Adel librarian, says a Mr. Moffatt was the builder.
Delaware

Worthington Covered Bridge

Built in 1889 by the Dubuque & South Western R.R., this covered bridge spanned the North Fork of the Maquoketa at Worthington. It was washed out by the flood of June 14, 1925, which caused so much damage at Cascade.

The D&SW later became part of the Milwaukee Road. While Worthington is in Dubuque County, this bridge was in Delaware County.

Floyd

Nora Springs Bridge

A wooden bridge was built across the Shell Rock River at Nora Springs in 1868. It was erected at a cost of $2,500 and was replaced in 1870.

Rockford Bridge

A wooden Howe truss bridge was built over the Shell Rock at Rockford in 1865. It was built partly at the expense of the county and partly at the expense of Rockford citizens. It was taken down in 1875.

Marble Rock Bridge

The first bridge spanning the Shell Rock River in Union Township was completed at Marble Rock in January of 1869. It was a Howe truss bridge. A. Spaulding of Cedar Falls built the 210-foot single span structure. It was condemned by the supervisors in February of 1875.

(These Floyd County bridges are listed in the
Hamilton

Boone River Bridge

Lorene M. Q. Hall wrote in the June 8, 1957, issue of Webster City’s Daily Freeman-Journal:

First bridge in Webster City over the Boone river was on East Dubuque Street . . . Being washed out, it was replaced in the early 1870’s by the combination wood and iron covered bridge which served until 1891.

Henry

Abbey Covered Bridge

The Henry County Press of Mount Pleasant, on October 3, 1873, records from the September meeting of the Board of Supervisors:

The reports and vouchers of O. H. P. Buchanan, commissioner to superintend the building of a bridge across Big creek on the road to Oakland Mills; . . . were presented, examined and approved.

The Free Press, also of Mount Pleasant, on January 29, 1874, picked up this information during the Board’s January meeting:

In the matter of bids received for covering the new bridge across Big Creek at Abbey’s Ford, Ordered, That it be referred to William Allen, to report as soon as possible.

On April 16, 1874, the Free Press again reports on a Board meeting:

Ordered, that a warrant be drawn on the Bridge Fund, in favor of Wm. Allen, for the sum of four hundred forty-
seven dollars, to be expended in covering bridge over Big Creek, near J. B. Abbey's.

Hochreiter Bridge*

The *Henry County Press* of February 24, 1869, told of this petition submitted to the Board:

Petition of Wm. R. Harkness and others for an appropriation to aid in building a bridge across Crooked Creek, east of the school house in Winfield; committee recommended that an appropriation of three hundred dollars be granted for this purpose, and that the Clerk issue an order on the Bridge Fund for that amount payable to J. B. Cook, under whose supervision the same shall be expended.

The report was agreed to, the bridge built, and it was washed out early in the flood of 1869. The Board, meeting in September, noted:

Bridge petition of John Werts and others asking that an appropriation be made to replace or repair the bridge known as Hochreiter Bridge in Scott Township.

It was reported as having been rebuilt on January 3, 1870. The work was done by a committee of citizens of the local road district, A. Beason, J. Hall and C. S. Young.

Sam Kepper, present owner of the land on which the bridge stood, says it was dismantled in January of 1916.

K-Line Covered Bridge

The *Henry County Press* in its "From Oakland" column, reported on September 23, 1868:
"The railroad bridge company are at work on the abutments for the bridge over the Skunk river..." The bridge was sold by the Keokuk Northern Railroad Company early in 1869. There is some doubt that it was covered at this time. The line using the bridge in 1886 was chartered as the Iowa Northern Central in that year. The name was changed to St. Louis, Keokuk and Northwestern; then to the St. Louis, Keokuk & Western Railroad Company. When the last run was made on January 26, 1932, the bridge was covered.

**Mud Creek Covered Bridge**

The *Free Press* of Mount Pleasant reports the approval of this resolution by the Board of Supervisors at its September, 1874, meeting:

The report of Commissioner Allen, appointed to superintend the building of a covered bridge across Mud Creek on the Agency Road near Lowell, with receipts from J. M. Grubb, for $735.00, being the cost of said bridge, was examined and approved.

**Red Covered Bridge**

This bridge, south of Salem, spanned Little Cedar Creek, on the old road between Fort Madison and the Indian Agency east of Ottumwa. Built in 1875, it was swept off its foundation in the flood of 1905. It was restored and lasted until another flood took care of it in the 1930's or '40's.

**Iowa Bridge**

“The long, covered, wooden bridge, with its
tracery of carved initials, is out of the picture, along with its lesser quaint contemporaries," wrote Bertha M. H. Shambaugh in her book, *Amana That Was and Amana That Is*. Her statement only lends credence to the view of some old-timers that there was a covered bridge over the Iowa River between Homestead and Amana.

**Keokuk**

**Delta Covered Bridge**

This 76-foot span over the North Skunk River was erected in 1867 by Joseph Merryfield and James Harlan. Maxon Randall was chairman of the Board of Supervisors which authorized the bridge. He had lived in Pennsylvania and probably is responsible for the Delta Bridge being patterned after the Pennsylvania Dutch bridges of the East. It is possibly the oldest bridge of this type erected west of the Mississippi.

Burr arch truss was the type of construction used in this bridge and the first roof was made of home-made shingles, or shakes. Pennsylvania bridges had a distinctive interior arch support which is clearly visible in the Delta Bridge. The cost was $1,620, plus $500 raised by popular subscription. It was built without a covering, but a year later the Keokuk County Board appropriated an additional $350 for enclosing it.

When it was allowed to deteriorate, residents of Delta in 1955 joined with officials who authorized use of county funds in the restoration of the
bridge. The cost of repairs at this time exceeded the cost of the original structure, $1,850. The Delta Bridge is now restricted to foot traffic only in reaching a small public park.

It is said that bridges of the Delta type were “built by the mile and sold by the yard” by energetic Yankee salesmen working in the Midwest.

**Madison**

**Afton Bridge**

Eli Cox was the builder of the Afton Bridge. It was erected in 1872 at a cost of $1,800, with neighboring citizens building 30 feet of apron. It was located on Middle River.

The bridge was taken out by an ice jam in the spring flood of 1924. It was replaced by an iron bridge which fell into the river in 1947’s flood. A concrete bridge is now in use.

**Backbone Bridge**

Backbone Bridge was first mentioned in 1871 when W. H. Lewis was authorized to have it repaired. It was located near the end of the tunnel east of Pammel Park and was a victim of the flood of July 4, 1876. In April of 1877, it was reported that “The new bridge at Backbone is now in use.” In August of 1878 the bridge was taken down and put up again “on or near where the road crosses Middle River.”

There is some question as to whether or not this was a covered bridge when moved. It was after
that and remained so until it burned on July 8, 1914. In its later years it had been used for hay and grain storage and was a convenient place for political caucuses.

Brown Bridge

Brown Bridge, spanning North River, was probably built in 1868 by J. P. Clark. True to its name, it was painted brown. It was also known as the Ballentine, Walker, or Fletcher Bridge, after families who had lived near the bridge at one time or another. Brown Bridge is said to have been dismantled in the 1930’s.

It was at this bridge that Jimmy Donahue was shot by vigilantes who were guarding the bridge in an effort to capture a jail breaker, Davies, in 1896. Jimmy, only a lad, came upon the bridge riding a horse and did not halt when ordered. He was nursed to recovery by sympathizing neighbors and schoolteachers. It should be noted that Jimmy was not a member of the Donahoe family for whom the Cutler-Donahoe Bridge was named. His daughter, Mrs. Margaret O’Neal of Winter- set, still had the hat her father was wearing [in 1970] that night and it is riddled with buckshot.

Cedar or Casper Bridge*

Also called the Storrs Bridge, it was built by H. P. Jones over the North River after completion of the Roseman Bridge in 1883. It is a Town lattice type bridge, as were most of the bridges built
by Jones. It was ordered by the supervisors in 1877 and completed in 1883. The bridge was moved to the Cedar Creek crossing in 1920 when changes in Highway Number 169 required a more substantial bridge.

A bridge and road bypassing Cedar Covered Bridge was built in 1964. The old road to the bridge, 150 yards away, was left open to sightseers. In 1965 a 20-acre park, centering around this famous old landmark, was completed.

Cooper's Ford Bridge

An appropriation was made in June of 1877 for a bridge at Cooper's Ford. This must have been the second bridge at this location because the minutes of a Board meeting in 1886 specify, "that a bridge to be built at Cottonwood Ford on the North Branch must be like the one at Cooper's Ford."

It was probably built in 1878 with Eli Cox as the contractor. It was washed out in the spring flood of 1898.

In order to produce the curve the span required, Cox is reported to have searched the woods for crooked trees until he found one meeting his requirements.

Cox Covered Bridge

The Cox Bridge, the first covered bridge built in Madison County, was erected by Eli Cox in 1868, possibly assisted by his sons, John, George,
and Alfred. Cox built the bridge under contract with the county. His homestead was just south of the crossing. The Cox family built several of Madison County's bridges.

Spanning the North River, the bridge was torn down in 1913. It was removed because it was believed that the piers were placed so as to obstruct the flow of the stream. But when the new bridge was completed, the old piers were left.

**Cutler-Donahoe Bridge***

Authorized in September of 1870, nothing was heard of this bridge until William Anderson was authorized to accept it in June of 1871. It was built by Eli Cox over the North River on the old Donahoe road near Bevington. He used trunnell pins instead of iron bolts in what remains of the original structure, as did J. P. Clark in the McBride Bridge. The Cutler-Donahoe and Imes spans have pitched roofs; the remaining Madison County bridges have the flat-top roof, a peculiarity in this section of the Midwest.

This bridge now rests in a natural setting in Winterset's City Park, where it is open to foot traffic only. It had been moved 18 miles from its original location in August of 1970. The bridge had been declared impassable and had been bypassed by an iron bridge.

**Hogback Bridge***

Another Jones bridge, it was built over the
North River in 1884. A board containing the names of all the workmen was placed in the bridge. It was the last of the surviving bridges to be built.

Holliwell Bridge*

The first Holliwell Bridge, built in 1854-55 over the Middle River, was not covered. It was carried away during a flood and when rebuilt in 1880 it was covered. It was moved to Sulgrove on North River to replace a bridge that had fallen.

Holliwell was built by H. P. Jones and G. K. Foster, using the Town/arch and arched queen post type of construction. The two center top beams are 39 feet long and arc from 9 feet to 13.2 feet above the floor. The two end top beams are 16 feet long and arc from zero to 9 feet above the floor. The total length is 110 feet, while the approach spans a total of 60 feet, a total of 170 feet, probably the longest Madison County bridge.

Imes or King Bridge*

Also called the Munger or Mills, the Imes Bridge is of Town lattice with queen post construction. While W. H. Lewis was authorized to accept the bridge in June of 1871, the builder was probably J. P. Clark. The Board of Supervisors voted a bridge at Wilkins Ford on Middle River in January of 1870. There was considerable agitation about the location, delaying completion of the bridge. In September of 1887 it was moved to the Imes crossing of the Clanton, where it stands.
It is one of two with the original pitched roof.

**King, McMillan, or Welch Bridge**

Voted in 1877 and built over Badger Creek in 1878, this was the smallest of the county's bridges.

Built under the supervision of Milton Wilson, J. P. Clark received final payment for the bridge in June of 1878.

It was too narrow for the passage of large tractors and threshing outfits. Timbers were removed from time to time and the bridge had disappeared by the late 1920's.

**Klingensmith Bridge**

H. P. Jones is said to have been the builder of this bridge. Also called the Bennett Bridge, it spanned the North Branch in Madison Township. It was removed not long after 1933.

**McBride or Burger Bridge**

Also known as the Wiggins Bridge, this structure was voted in June of 1870 and accepted the following year. It was built by J. P. Clark over North Branch at a cost of $1,700; later another $175 was allowed to complete it. There were noticeable differences in this bridge and the Brown, both built by Clark. It was probably due to a ruling by the Board of Supervisors in January of 1870 that timber should be emphasized instead of stone and that bridges should be covered inasmuch as the "permanency of the bridge more
than compensated for the extra expense of adding a roof over it."

A concrete bridge was built over a new channel of the North Branch in 1966, bypassing the McBride Bridge. It was left standing "high and dry." However, it is open for traffic.

Rhyno's Ford Bridge

An allowance of $1,600 was made for this bridge and the contract let to L. W. Winkley in April of 1872. The bridge spanned Clanton Creek in South Township.

Rose, or Dunmire Bridge

In August of 1871 a bridge was built across North River in the Rose neighborhood. It was 45 feet long with approaches of 7 feet on one end and 30 feet on the other. It was covered and painted at a cost of $900. The Board named E. H. Conger to receive it.

This bridge was torn down about 1912.

It was pretty well determined late in 1970 that this was the bridge known as the Dunmire Covered Bridge. It was in Jackson Township, about eight miles south of Dexter.

Roseman Bridge*

Also called Oak Grove Bridge, this structure was voted in 1877, but H. P. Jones, the contractor, did not begin construction until 1883, after he had completed Cedar Bridge. Roseman Bridge is 113 feet long and spans Middle River, five miles west
of Pammel State Park. This is another Town lattice with queen post bridge.

It is sometimes called the “haunted bridge.”

Mahaska

Warren's Mill Bridge

*The Weekly Oskaloosa Herald* of January 12, 1865, commenting on the actions taken at the January meeting of the Board of Supervisors, said:

J. Rhinehart, W. R. Ankeney and P. G. Butler, were appointed a committee to confer with Mr. Woodruff the contractor for covering the bridge at Warren's Mill, and see what settlement can be made.

At its June meeting, Board members again considered the Warren's Mill project and the *Herald* reported:

An appropriation of $1000 was made to aid in the construction of a bridge across the South Skunk River at R. B. Warren's mill.

Marion

Birch Mill Bridge

C. B. Campbell, Knoxville, mentioned this bridge but did not spot it as to location. It may be one of the nine bridges the late Edgar R. Harlan reported as being "still in use in Marion County." In the October 8, 1933, issue of *The Des Moines Register*, Harlan commented further:

Three of the covered bridges are near Knoxville over the Tracy and Whitebreast creeks, two are west of Harvey, Ia., over English creek, and four are near Marysville over North Cedar and South Cedar creeks.
Durham Bridge*

Durham Bridge was built over English Creek about a mile northwest of Harvey in 1880. Of Town lattice construction it had a span of 55 feet. It was destroyed by fire October 2, 1965. Firemen and officials at the scene said the fire was probably set.

In the mid-1950's the bridge had been rehabilitated as a tourist attraction. Four 18-inch I-beams were placed under the floor to take some of the weight from the wooden trusses. The bridge floor had been renewed in 1964.

After the fire the floor was repaired and it was converted into a conventional bridge.

East Durham Bridge

Bridging English Creek, the East Durham structure was about a mile and a half west of the Durham span. It was demolished in 1958 after it had been bypassed by a new road.

Fawcett Bridge

This bridge was washed out by the high waters of White Breast Creek on May 3, 1944. It was some distance south of the Overton Bridge, also on the White Breast.

Hammond Bridge*

Spanning North Cedar Creek south of Attica, the Hammond Bridge was built in 1870. It is a 60-foot Town lattice bridge.
Howell Bridge

Built about 1886, this bridge spanned the Des Moines River on the Pella-Knoxville road. It was originally 600 feet wide, but heavy floods cut a 400-foot channel on the north approach. A steel addition was built onto the old bridge, giving it a total span of 1,000 feet. (*Reported in a letter by John Vander Linden to the Pella Chronicle, March 24, 1949.*)

Marysville Bridge*

Built originally three and a half miles north of Dallas on White Breast Creek in the summer of 1891, this bridge was first known as the Davis Covered Bridge. In 1926 it was dismantled, each piece of timber numbered, and then trucked to Marysville where it was rebuilt over South Cedar Creek. When the bridge came on hard times it was formally transferred by Marion County to the Red Rock Lake Association in 1968.

It has been dismantled again and a 40-foot length has been turned over to the Knoxville Covered Bridge Fans, who will reconstruct and place it in the Marion County Park in Knoxville. The other 40-feet will go to bridge fans in Pella for restoration in a park there.

Overton Bridge

Washed out by the high waters of White Breast Creek on May 3, 1944, the Overton Bridge was built in the late 1890’s. It was an all-wood structure with sides six feet high.
Red Bridge

Another bridge was reported by John Vander Linden to the *Pella Chronicle* in his letter dated March 24, 1949. He says the bridge was built in 1897 and went into the river the following spring because of high water. He did not locate the bridge or name the river it spanned.

Page

Clarinda Bridge

A covered Howe truss bridge was built in 1876. It spanned the West Nodaway River.

Couch Bridge

A Howe truss bridge was built in 1877, spanning the East Nodaway River.

Franklin Grove Bridge

This is the only covered bridge listed for the Nishnabotna. The Howe truss Franklin Grove Bridge was built in 1872.

Wallace A. Lindburg remembers driving over this bridge as a boy, and that “It was exciting and rather spooky.” He thinks the bridge was replaced between 1905 and 1908.

Hawleyville Bridge

This was the first bridge built in Page County, in 1857-'58. It was built by John McLean and A. P. Richardson who received $700 for the job. The bridge spanned the East Nodaway River.

LaPorte Bridge*

This bridge spanned the West Nodaway River
about four miles north of Clarinda, near the North Mills Post Office. Raymond & Campbell, one of four firms bidding on the bridge, were awarded the contract to build the bridge at a cost of $20.40 for each foot of the 100-foot structure.

It was built in 1875 by order of the Board of Supervisors, composed of John X. Griffith, George McCullough, and Samuel Gorman. The bridge stood until the river channel was changed and water no longer flowed under the bridge. It was sold, December 19, 1924, for $300 and demolished for its lumber.

**Morsman Station Bridge**

Spanning the West Nodaway River, this was a covered Howe truss bridge built in 1880.

**Nixon Bridge**

The Nixon Bridge, a Howe truss structure, was built over the East Nodaway in 1874.

**Pace Bridge**

The Pace Bridge, a Howe truss bridge, was rebuilt over the East Nodaway in 1879.

**Shambaugh Bridge**

The bridge at Shambaugh Mill was moved from its foundation in the flood of the West Nodaway in September of 1876. It was rebuilt in 1877 as a Howe truss bridge.

The mill was owned by James Shambaugh and stood until 1898 when it was struck by lightning.
The first bridge across the Raccoon River at the "Point" was built in 1862 by Dr. M. P. Turner. It was a toll bridge. It was carried away by an ice jam in 1865. It was rebuilt in the same year by Dr. Turner with financial help from people living south of the Raccoon. It was given to the City of Des Moines in 1868 and was to be free to the public "forever and forever." Condemned by the city, the old bridge was torn down in 1871. A new covered, wooden bridge was built at the same location in 1872. When the streetcar line was extended to Sevastopol, it crossed the Raccoon on this structure. Many times between 1885 and 1912 the old bridge was condemned but it refused to give up life until the course of the Raccoon River was changed in 1912.

Possibly heralding the end for the old bridge was this paragraph from *The Des Moines Capital* of March 29, 1912:

... The Raccoon river is on its annual rampage also. Last night it was found necessary to close the old covered bridge at First street. The south pier of the antiquated structure was weakened by the severe buffeting it received and police ordered the bridge closed...

Owens Covered Bridge*

Located on an old road abandoned in 1940, Owens Covered Bridge not only suffered the indignity of having its road re-routed, but having the channel of the North River, which it spanned,
straightened, leaving the bridge high and dry, in a dense timberland, and on private property.

The bridge was forgotten until the senior class of Carlisle High School, in 1959, undertook as its contribution to the community the project of attempting to restore the old bridge. The students interested the Polk County Conservation Board in the bridge and in 1968 it was moved to a small arm of a lake in Yeader Creek County Park on the southeastern edge of Des Moines. This location is about seven miles from its previous location over North River near Carlisle.

The Owens bridge was built by Sam Gray in 1887 or 1888. It is also known as the Person Bridge because Charles Person owned the land acquired by Gordon and Frederic Owens.

Toll Bridge

The first bridge over the Des Moines River at Walnut Street was erected by Judge T. H. Napier. A Howe truss structure, it was opened to the public on October 23, 1866, as a toll bridge. It became a free bridge in November of 1867. Temporarily repaired after the eastern truss was broken by a stampede of horses, it was replaced in 1871.

Story

Indian Creek Bridge

*The Story County Representative* of September 15, 1870, reports that the Board of Supervisors at its September meeting passed this resolution:
Resolved, That fifty dollars be appropriated out of the bridge fund to buy lumber to recover bridge across East Indian creek in New Albany Tp., and that the same be placed in the hands of the Road Supervisors . . .

Van Buren

Burlington Covered Bridge*

Until 1904 or 1906, an old covered wooden bridge, owned by the Burlington & Southwestern Railway, spanned the Des Moines River at Farmington. It was believed to be the world's longest covered railroad bridge at the time of construction.

The Bloomfield Democrat, on April 20, 1871, noted: "Bridge over Des Moines at Farmington contracted for . . ." On July 13, the Democrat gave these figures for new bridge: "825 feet in length between shore abutments—Howe trusses resting on four massive stone piers. Piers built of stones from Sagetown Quarries." Even Burlington's Hawk-Eye got excited and on July 20, 1871, reported the new bridge "will be completed on July 22. Rail will be laid across the bridge on July 29."

Thelma Moreland, Farmington historian, reports that William Franklin McLintock, Burlington Railroad bridge boss, engineered the building of the bridge. Mrs. McLintock was a Farmington resident until a few years ago.

Warren

Bell's Farm Road Bridge

The Warren County Leader (Indianola) for
THE PALIMPSEST

January 19, 1871, reported this action by the Supervisors:

Your committee appointed to superintend the letting and building of a bridge across North River at Bell's farm would now report:

Your committee met Sept. 12th, selected the site and let contract to P. Bucklew for $700.00 in addition to amount subscribed. Said bridge is a high sided lattice bridge, 70 foot span, 30 feet apron on the North and 25 feet on the South end, all of good pine material. We received said bridge in November . . .”

Churchville Bridge

The Warren County Leader (Indianola) of September 15, 1870, reports the following resolution was passed by the Board:

Resolved by the Board of Supervisors of Warren County, Iowa that there be appropriated from the bridge fund the sum of $500 for the purpose of enclosing and covering the bridge across Middle River, south of Churchville, Warren County, Iowa. Said bridge to be high sided.

Later on a motion was made which reduced the appropriation to $100.

McGinnis Ford Bridge

The Warren County Leader (Indianola) of September 12, 1872, noted this resolution passed by the Board at its September meeting:

Resolved, by the Board of Supervisors of Warren County, Iowa, that an appropriation of one hundred and fifty dollars ($150) out of the bridge fund be made to aid in building a bridge over Clanton creek near the resi-
dence of Alexander McGinnis to be expended under the supervision of John Wood and B. C. Berry . . ."

Berry told the Board on January 15, 1873:

I contracted with Mr. McCarty for the building of a low latticed bridge fifty feet span for the sum of five hundred and twenty-five ($525) dollars, including a subscription of one hundred and ninety-five ($195) dollars from parties interested, that the work has been completed according to contract, and Orders for three hundred and thirty ($330) have been issued to contractor. I would further recommend that an allowance of nine dollars and forty cents ($9.40) be allowed the contractor for extra bolts furnished for said bridge . . .

Middle River Bridge

Blanche Seid Lanning reported in a letter to J. A. Wymore, written May 25, 1959, that "There was a covered bridge across Middle River about a mile south of the Owens Bridge." She also indicated that the bridge was torn down between 1900 and 1902.

North River Bridge

Mrs. Lanning also said in the same letter, "There was another covered bridge across North River at what is now Carlisle Park." This, too, was probably dismantled between 1900 and 1902.

Otter Creek Bridge

In part the minutes of the September, 1870, meeting of the Board of Supervisors were reported in the September 15 issue of the Leader:
The undersigned committee appointed to contract for and superintend the building of a bridge across Otter creek on the Hammondsburg and Osceola road would report that they contracted with Thos. Barrett for an enclosed lattice bridge of seven feet sides, fifty feet span, and sixty feet approaches, all of pine, for $805. Said bridge is completed in a good and substantial manner and warrants have been issued on the bridge fund to the contractor to the amount of $805 less $25 for timber sold to him.

Committeemen were H. B. Starbuck and A. Smith.

Spaulding's Bridge
This bridge spanned South River, about a mile above the State Road Bridge. (Reported by Don Berry.)

State Road Bridge
This bridge was located south of Indianola and bridged the South River. (Reported by Berry.)

Summerset Bridge
Spanned Middle River. (Reported by Berry.)

Wayne

Seymour Bridge
The Centerville Daily Iowegian in its story of June 26, 1953, noted a covered bridge at Seymour.